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Archaeological Assessment of the Proposed Route of a Water Main From Backies to Helmsdale, Sutherland

Introduction

The author was asked by Allen, Gordon, Consulting Engineers, to carry out a desk-based assessment and walk-over survey of the areas affected by the proposed water main prior to work commencing. The aim of the assessment was to locate known archaeological features and identify unrecorded features, to assess the potential impact of the project on the archaeological record and to make recommendations to mitigate this impact. This would involve forming a judgement on the relative local or national importance or interest of each feature, particularly those which lie within the wayleave of the pipeline. Recommendations will be made as to whether it is acceptable to damage or destroy an archaeological feature, whether further archaeological recording should be undertaken on these features, or whether steps should be taken to avoid causing damage. This last option might involve minor alterations to the pipeline route being recommended. All decisions on the implementation of such mitigating measures will be made by the Senior Archaeologist in charge of the project within the Department of Planning at Highland Council.

Method

An initial desk-based assessment was carried out to establish the historical background of the area and the likelihood of archaeological features being present. The following resources were consulted:

Highland Council's Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit within the Planning Department of Highland Council in Inverness.

The National Library of Scotland's Map Library in Edinburgh

Royal Commission on Ancient and Historic Monuments of Scotland: Air Photographs and other archive material.

Highland Archive in Inverness Library: Valuation Rolls and Census Returns.

This was followed by a walk-over survey of all the areas to be affected. This was carried out on July 29th and 30th 2000 in good weather conditions. It is to be stressed that this was not a general archaeological survey of the whole area. Due to the constraints of time, effort was concentrated along the approximate 20m. width of the wayleave and the areas highlighted as potential reservoir sites. However, all archaeological features recorded on the Highland Council's Sites and monuments Record as being within a few hundred metres of the proposed work were visited to check that their recorded locations were correct and that they did not have associated features which might be affected. 

Where the route of the pipeline passed along the verge of the upgraded A9 road, it was considered that the amount of disturbance of the terrain would have left virtually nothing of the archaeological record intact. These sections were viewed by bicycle and attention on foot was given o those sections which passed through land unaffected by major development.

Archaeological Background

The present prosperous farmland of this stretch of the Esat Sutherland coast owe their existence geologically to the Helmsdale fault. This formed a submarine scarp over which vast quantities of sediment flowed to form the flat and fertile plain which is in sharp contrast to the barren granite hills of the interior. But in Prehistoric times, settlement was by no means concentrated along the coast. The glens and straths of the interior are filled with archaeological remains of every prehistoric period from the chambered cairns, standing stones and burnt mounds of the Neolothic period to the hut circles and field systems of the Bronze and Iron Ages, and the brochs, duns and forts of around 2000 years ago. There are examples of these along the coast, such as the chambered long cairn at Lothbeg, but it is assumed that much of the archaeological record of  prehistoric settlement will have disappeared during successive phases of land use, culminating in the large scale improvement and clearing of fields at the beginning of the 19th century. Only in the second half of the 19th century were archaeological finds recorded with any accuracy. Human burials in particular were recorded. These appear to have been short-cist burials, often set into glacial knolls. These were a common form of burial in this area in the Bronze and Iron Ages. Two brochs along the shoreline: Carn Liath and Kintradwell Broch, survive in good condition, while a third, Dun Phail, originally occupying a good defensive position at Gartymore, has now disappeared almost entirely. But these three brochs spaced along the coast, together with many more brochs in Dunrobin Glen, Strath Brora, Glen Loth and the Strath of Kildonan, may indicate a pattern of territorial division, of settlements located around a defensive structure, which is also reflected in the spacing of farmsteads around fortified houses which still existed in the 18th century.

Until around the 9th century this was the territory of the Picts, and many good examples of Pictish carved stones have been found in the area, some bearing symbols and others cross-slabs dating from the establishment of the Pictish Church in the early 8th century. The Picts declined with the arrival of Norse settlers, and the whole area north of the Dornoch Firth is considered to have been part of the Norse world from the 9th to the 13 century. Despite this, the only evidence for the Norse presence is in place names: Helmsdale and Navidale, Backies (from ON Bakki = bank) and Uppat (upp-vatn = rising spring loch)

Historical Background

The survey area covers four parishes originally in the Diocese of Caithness. In the Middle Ages there were parish churches at Kilmalie (Golspie) Clyne and Loth, while Helmsdale Hospital provided shelter for pilgrims. Mediaeval castles stood at Dunrobin and Helmsdale.

The earliest map to portray settlements with any accuracy, Blaeu's map of 1654, names virtually all the settlements as they still are today, but Roy's military map of the 1750s gives the most information on settlement as it was before the Clearances, showing the numerous small townships clustered around the major centres. These centres, possibly fortified houses of minor chiefs or tacksmen, are marked on the map with enclosures and occasionally plantations, in size relative to their importance. Crackaig, Clyntradwell, Clynmilton and Clynelish are marked in this way. Other settlements' names which have now disappeared from the map include Carter Town east of Culgower, Killhillock between Crackaig and Loth church, and Wilkhouse near to Kintradwell Broch.

The clearances on the Sutherland estate, which began in 1807, were part of a grand design to reorganise the entire estate on more productive lines: sheep farms in the interior, arable farms on the fertile coastal strip. The policies around Dunrobin Castle were planted before 1810, and the purchase of Uppat in 1813 from Munro of Achany brought the entire area into the ownership of the Sutherland family. This enabled the managers, Young and Sellar, to plan the integrated management of all aspects of the estate. Clynelish distillery, for example, established in 1819, was run as one operation with the farm providing the barley. A piggery consumed the spent grain, while the manure from the pigs was used in the reclamation of North Brora Muir. 

The small tenants removed from the interior to make way for the sheep farms were not forgotten in these schemes. Although the method of their removal was harsh, land was set aside for them and laid out into small lots each containing up to an acre of old arable, added to which was about two acres of moor land to be improved. It was hoped that some of the tenants would earn an income from fishing. The village of Helmsdale was established in 1818. East and West Helmsdale and Gartymore were all lotted, while Mid Garty was proposed as the site of a new village, Portgower, with arable and pasture land allocated to the villagers and a pier to be built to promote fishing. To the south, people evicted from Strath Brora and Rogart Parish were first settled on Brora links. New Backies had taken in 17 tenants by 1811, and the rough ground of North Brora Muir was lotted for reclamation. The clearance of the interior was so thorough that the minister of Clyne parish was able to congratulate himself in 1834 that all the inhabitants of the parish, apart from a few shepherds, lived within 3 miles of the church.

Although the clearance of the interior is well documented, it should also be remembered that the coastal strip had been heavily populated. Between 1809 and 1820, 27 new sets of farm offices were built in East Sutherland, and the farmland reorganised. Estate plans showing the layout of the new rectangular field systems shows them as overlaid on meticulously recorded maps of the old farmsteads and patchwork of enclosures they were to replace, all trace of which has now disappeared. The early Ordnance Survey maps still show these old farmsteads, truncated by the boundaries of the new fields. The tenants from these farms were squeezed onto small allocations of crofting land on the hill above the new farms. Crackaig and Culgower crofts, for example, were lotted and settled by 1830.

Donald MacLeod, writing on the Sutherland Clearances in 1857, stated "a remnant of 9the population) is to be found along the sea shore, huddled together in motley groups upon barren moors, among cliffs and precipices, in the most degraded, subjugated, slavish, spiritless condition that human beings could exist in" In exactly the same year, Black's Picturesque Tourist of Scotland describes the area from Golspie to Helmsdale as containing "Substantial farmhouses, comfortable stone and lime cottages, a well-clad peasantry and superior farm stock present themselves as unequivocal signs of a thriving population" It is probably true that the tenantry on this eastern coastal strip were living in better conditions than the easier to ignore, distant tenantry on the north and west coasts. Between 1862 and 1883 the then Duke of Sutherland was allowing annual grants for improvements in crofters' dwelling houses, and the crofts today have an air of productivity in strong contrast to the rest of the northern crofting areas.

Chance Finds
A number of objects and burials, these from their descriptions short-cist burials  from the Bronze or Iron Age, were discovered during the construction of the railway and drainage works between 1850 and 1880, particularly along Kintradwell Links and below Lothbeg. Whether this represents a concentration of prehistoric activity along the sandy shoreline or the diligence of Victorian antiquarians in recording every find is not yet clear. It is however unlikely that much remains undiscovered in land which has been drained and ploughed for 200 years. This does leave the possibility of chance finds in areas which have not been intensively cultivated

One major group of finds has been the 18 examples of Pictish carved stones discovered between Golspie and Navidale. Some have been fragments found, again, by ploughing or during railway construction in the 1860s. Again there is a concentration of finds around Kintradwell Broch, with four separate fragments with carved symbols found in the last century. There is the possibility that further fragments might be recovered during excavation work on any area of land which is relatively undisturbed. No particular guidelines can be given on the likelihood of any chance finds being made, except to advise that at the very least the Senior Archaeologist be contacted and that the precise location of any find be recorded.

Stone dykes

The stone dykes have not been listed individually as archaeological features within the survey, but there are many fine examples of drystone dyking which presumably date to the laying out of the new farms around 1820. A particularly good example is the series of dykes between Ballinreach and Kintradwell. It is hoped that there will be a commitment to restore these dykes to as close as possible to their original style. Where, however, the dykes are already in a state of disrepair, or where, on crofting land, they are little more than consumption dykes, it is not felt that such a degree of care is necessary. Decisions on the restoration of these type of dykes should be made in consultation with the landowner or crofter concerned.

The Archaeological Survey

38 archaeological features are listed, but only where recommendations are given (in italics) has it been felt that any mitigating action is necessary.

1. NC 8330 0210  Backies Township  SMR no. NC80SW0115  An extensive township containing both crofting lots and several farmsteads dating to an earlier period. None of the recorded features are affected by the present project.

2. NC 8407 0176  Dunrobin Broch  SMR no. NC80SE0048  This broch is set on a hillock with steep slopes on three sides and a wide natural trench dividing it from the hill to the north. There is therefore plenty of distance between this feature and the route of the pipeline along the track to the north.

3. NC 869 023  Uppat: Hut circles and field system  SMR no. NC80SE0048  The nearest hut circle is around 70m. from the track where the pipeline is to pass. The hut circle itself is degraded from having been used as a cattle feeding station, and the ground between it and the track has been thoroughly churned by heavy farm machinery. This makes it very unlikely that any archaeological record will be intact between the hut circle and the track. The further, higher, hut circles to the east appear to be unaffected.

4. NC 8686 0242  Uppat: Boulder with bench mark. It was noted that it seemed to be a common practice to stand large boulders on edge at intervals along the track through the Dunrobin Policies called the Queen's Drive. This particular example has a conspicuous bench mark carved more or less centrally on its west face. Bench marks must be common features, but rarely as visible as this.  Another boulder set by the track a few metres to the south of this had the number 4 carved on its west face. This may have no significance. No other boulders examined appeared to have any carvings, although most are rough-faced and overgrown with moss and lichen.

Recommendations: It is recommended that all these upright boulders, but this one particularly, be preserved in their original locations.

5. NC 8694 0265  Uppat: Water Garden  This small feature makes use of the small stream flowing past the farm and is presumed to be a garden feature belonging to the estate house on the other side of the track. A small waterfall and stone-lined pond have been created. It is not considered necessary from an archaeological point of view to preserve this feature from damage, although the residents might prefer that it be preserved.

6. NC8701 0297  Uppat: Bridge  A small stone arched bridge in good condition, although the track over the bridge has eroded to reveal the stone cobbling. Just through the gate to the SE of the bridge is a stone set into the ground. This is presumed to be a gate stop.

Recommendations: it is recommended that care be taken to avoid accidental damage to this feature. As there is no need for heavy machinery to cross the bridge, it would be a sensible precaution to bar access during excavation work. It is hoped that the gateway and the gate stop can be preserved as landscape features.

7. NC 8751 0348  Doll: Building  An unroofed building is marked on the 2nd edition Ordnance survey map at this location, but is no longer visible on the ground except as a part of a group of robbed dykes. This and the following three features are not in the area marked off for the original Doll crofts in 1820. It is presumed to be a barn belonging to a later phase of expansion of crofting land.

8. NC 8767 0350 Doll: Two Buildings  SMR no. NC80SE0072.  These two buildings are marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, according to the SMR, and may be associated with an enclosure just to the north. This enclosure, but not the buildings, are marked on the 2nd edition OS. Map. There is no trace of these buildings on the ground. The construction of a modern steading and yard has altered the terrain considerably.

9. NC 8760 0354  Doll: Sheep fank and dip. These are considered to date to this century and do not contain any features it is felt necessary to preserve for the archaeological record.

10. NC 8785 0384  Fanich: Enclosure. The faint grass-covered footings of an enclosing wall can be traced on the ground, attached to the back of the croft house and byres. The land within the enclosure has not been cultivated, and is marked as such on the 2nd edition OS Map. The route of the pipeline crosses this enclosure but it is not considered that any mitigating action is necessary.

11. NC 8872 0414  Larachnabothan Township  SMR no. NC80SE0067. The translation from the Gaelic of this placename is of interest, as it means 'the site of the ruin of the bothy' This presumably refers to a settlement or shieling located here predating the establishment of the crofting lots on North Brora Muir at the beginning of the 19th century. Although there are probably no features remaining from that period, the thin field strips divided by low consumption dykes are not typical of the crofting lots on the Muir, but may represent the original allocation of small lots which in most cases have now been amalgamated into more economically viable units.

Recommendations.  These low dykes are likely to be crossed by the route of the pipeline, although as linear features they will only be partly damaged. It is recommended that this damage be kept to a minimum by avoiding the dumping of excavated material on the dykes.

12. NC 9113 0620  Greenhill: Two buildings. On the 1820 Estate map, these are the only two buildings at Greenhill, or Lower Achrimsdale. The land above the road had already been divided into thin lots. By 1849 these two houses have disappeared from the map, and the houses are as they are today. The route of the pipeline passes on the other side of the road at this point, so it would not affect any archaeological remains of these buildings.

13. NC 9210 0734  Kintradwell Smithy.  The faint grass-covered footings of a rectangular building and some enclosure walls can be traced on the ground at this location. A building on this site is marked as a mill on an 1820 map, but as a smithy in 1859. The 2nd edition OS map shows four buildings within a rectangular enclosure adjacent to the road and, a short distance upstream, kennels. A probable mill pond is marked on the other side of the burn above this, but there is no sign of a lade.

Recommendations:  The proposed route of the pipeline passes directly through the visible footings of the smithy and through the location of one other of the buildings. An alternative route avoiding these features is however not obvious, although the least damage would probably be caused by taking a line as close to the road as possible and marking the visible features to avoid accidental damage. If this is not possible, some form of archaeological recording prior to work commencing is recommended.

14. NC9217 0739 Kintradwell: Building  The grass covered footings of a rectangular building lying parallel to the road are visible on the ground. This building is not marked on the 2nd edition OS map. A document of 1815 entitled the State of the Leases on the Estate of Sutherland indicates that Kintradwell was set to small tenants as fishermen as well as the wadset to a Mr MacPherson. However, there appear to be no fishermen's cottages or crofting land marked on the 2nd edition OS map. There does appear to be a landing port marked on the beach below here, and it is possible that this building was a fisherman's cottage in the first half of the 19th century.

Recommendations. As with the previous feature, the proposed pipeline route passes more or less directly through this feature. Again, there might be room to pass between it and the road if care is taken to avoid accidental damage. If this is not possible, again, some degree of archaeological recording is recommended prior to work commencing.

15. NC 9221 0742 Kintradwell Lodge and supposed site of St Trolla's Chapel  SMR no. NC90NW0007  There is no trace on the ground of either of these features. The lodge is marked on the 2nd edition OS map as immediately to the left of the gateway, and the supposed site of the chapel is marked as immediately behind this. Kintradwell is marked on Roy's map of the 1750s as a substantial enclosed house, and the original house is said to predate 1745, but the present house and farm, and presumably the lodge and other estate buildings, were laid out in May 1820. There appears to be no strong evidence for the existence of the chapel. There was no trace of it in 1873, and the placename evidence appears to be based on an assumption about the prefix Kin- being a corruption of Kil-. However, on the Blaeu map the name is given as Clyn Traddel, and Roy records it as Clyntradwell. (from Gael. Claon = slope)

Recommendations. Although there are no visible remains of either of these features, it is recommended that if an archaeologist is on site recording the previous two features, this be combined with a more detailed survey of the area of the lodge.

16. NC 9247 0775  Kintradwell Farm. This group of farm buildings was laid out in May 1820 and is still in use. They include a 1.5 storey U-shaped steading with integrated cattle courts. It is assumed that the route of the pipeline through the farm yard will avoid damage to any of the original farm features.

17. NC 9293 0807  Cinn Trolla Broch  SMR no. NC90NW0005.  This well-preserved broch and its complex of interconnected buildings lying just outside its walls is far enough from the road and the pipeline route to be unaffected, but it is reiterated that within the vicinity of the broch several chance finds, including fragments of carved Pictish symbol stones have been uncovered. It is unlikely however, that excavation work for the pipeline will turn over any ground not already affected by the construction of the upgraded A9.

18. NC 9295 0846  Ballinreach: Raised Platform.  In the corner of the field south of the small burn is a grassy raised platform, roughly rectangular and measuring approximately 11m. by 8m. The field is otherwise completely featureless. This platform is not marked on any map and its function is unclear.

Recommendations: The route of the pipeline will probably pass through part of this feature. It is recommended that further archaeological investigation be carried out, either before or during excavation for the pipeline, to endeavour to discover the construction and the function of this platform

19. NC 933091  Allt Choll  Hut Circle SMR no. NC90NW0023

20. NC 933 091 Allt Choll  Farmstead  SMR no. NC90NW0046.  These two feature are at some distance from the road but were visited to ensure that no associated features would be affected by the present project. The strip of ground to the west of the road has been thoroughly disturbed during the upgrading of the A9 and it is clear that no archaeological features would have survived. The enclosure south of the farm house is marked on the 2nd edition OS map as running down to the edge of the (old) road.

21. NC 9365 0970  Lothbeg  Depopulated Settlements  Up to 32 unroofed buildings are marked on the current OS map. Most are on the NW of the road, but there are traces of settlement between the road and the shore. These would appear to represent a typical pre-Clearance landscape and may be the townships named as Ballylanan and Balieraggan on Roy's map of the 1750s as lying between Balinuich (Ballinreach) and Little Loth. Unlike most cases of clearance of settlements along the coast, these were not cleared to make way for arable farming, nor were crofts laid out in their place. The land is rough, but presumably no rougher than most croft land when it was first lotted. Its abandonment is fortunate for the archaeological record, as it represents an entire landscape of pre-crofting land use and settlement. All the features are far enough from the road to be unaffected by the present project.

22. NC9416 0988  Farmstead.  This farmstead is visible on the ground as fairly substantial footings of rubble walling. The building measures approximately 14m. by 3.5m. and is aligned NW-SE. There is an enclosure attached to the building to its NW. It is marked as unroofed on the 2nd edition OS map, although its alignment is marked incorrectly as NE-SW. This feature is probably far enough away from the proposed route of the pipeline to be unaffected, although it is noted that the pipeline crosses down into the field  just north of this.

Recommendations: It is recommended that this feature be identified and flagged if there is any movement of machinery across the field. The gateway in the corner of the field should not be used as an access point as this would involve crossing the enclosure.

23. NC 9413 1001 The Wolfstone, Monument.  This monument to the killing of the last wolf in the North of Scotland is a well known tourist stop, and has already been taken into account in the routing of the pipeline on the opposite side of the road.

24. NC 9438 1005  Lothbeg: Old Mansion House This is marked on a map of 1817, with an enclosure to its west. There is no trace of it on later maps or on aerial photographs. Nothing is visible on the ground, although there is a stand of 3-4 mature trees, unfenced, at this location. This possible archaeological feature, if the location is correct, is far enough south of the proposed pipeline route to be unaffected.

25. NC 944 102 Lothbeg:Cairns. SMR no. NC91SW0014  These cairns containing two stone coffins were cleared from this approximate location according to the Old Statistical Account of 1793. There is now no trace. Note also three urns found in 1830 at NC 947 101, a stone coffin and human remains found in 1869 at NC 950 100 and the recent find of human bones between the railway and the shore. The bank south of the river here has the appearance of a raised beach, and this is likely to have been the southern shore of the loch which lay below Lothbeg and Crackaig until the beginning of the 17th century when a new course for the river was cut through rock. It is assumed that all trace of these cairns has been removed, so there is no archaeological evidence to be affected by any excavation work.

26. NC 945 103  Lothbeg Offices and Mill  These are marked on a pmap of 1817 in approximately the same location as the present buildings below the road. The mill and lade are marked on later maps, but there is now no trace of the lade or the workings of the mill. These buildings are still in use and will not be affected by the present project.

27. NC 9463 1048  Lothbeg Bridge Chambered Cairn SMR no. NC91SW0006A The badly robbed remains of a long cairn.The robbed area lies to the west of the visible emains, which stand on top of a rise above the road. It is far enough from the present project to be unaffected.

28.  NC 9559 1086  Crackaig Second World War accommodation camp. The footings   of several demolished accommodation huts, with one standing chimney. A larger complex of huts lay on the other side of the road beyond the entrance to Crackaig farm. These were presumably to accommodate the personnel stationed at the military installations still visible on the high ground towards the shore. Military installations of the Second World War are a fairly common feature in the Highlands and accommodation huts are particularly common around military bases. Most appear to have been demolished at the end of the war.

Recommendations: the route of the pipeline passes through the features of this camp closest to the road. It is not felt necessary to take any mitigating action, as the camp on the other side of the road will be left intact as a record of this period of history. 

29. NC 9575 1120  Crackaig Depopulated Settlement  This is most clearly marked on the 2nd edition OS map, where at least 3 buildings and associated enclosures are marked. These features were not clearly defined on the aerial photographs and on the day of the survey were covered by chest-high bracken, making identification very difficult. It would appear from the evidence on the map to be a small pre-crofting township, although on very steep ground. Above the track which cuts across towards the stream above the settlement is an area of what looks like old arable ground with some traces of field clearance.

Recommendations:  This township lies on the site of the proposed reservoir and would to the greater part be destroyed by this project. It is impossible to assess this site properly given the height of the bracken, but it can be placed in the context of the large number of pre-clearance settlements covering the higher ground behind the crofts and farms along this stretch of coast. It is felt that it would be acceptable for this particular settlement to be destroyed, provided that detailed archaeological recording of the site can be carried out at a more favourable time of year. As it is unlikely that the construction of the reservoir will be carried out this year, it would appear that the timescale for this would allow for archaeological work.

30. NC 958 114 Crackaig: Field System  SMR no. NC91SE0011  Described in the SMR as three hectares of field clearance heaps and lynchets, of a type that one would expect to associate with a hut circle settlement. No hut circles have been found in the vicinity. The clearance cairns are heather covered and without the evidence of other features, could be mistaken for natural phenomena, however one cairn has eroded or been excavated to reveal the rubble fill typical of a clearance cairn, so it must be concluded that at some time some agricultural activity was being carried out here.

Recommendations:  Part of this area will also lie within the area of the proposed reservoir site. To put this site in context, field systems associated with prehistoric settlement are fairly common along the high ground above the crofts and farms, and also appear to lie generally higher than the pre-crofting settlements. Many of these prehistoric field systems are associated with hut circles, for example east of Lothbeg Bridge and behind Kintradwell. It is therefore not felt necessary to preserve this site in its entirety. It may be considered necessary to record the features in more detail before work commences. This could be done at the same time as the recording of the Crackaig pre-crofting township.

31. NC 9726 1198 Culgower Dyke and possible field system.  This area is the site of the alternative location for a reservoir . To the east of the new deer fence is a substantial turf and stone dyke. This is presumably the same as that marked on the 2nd edition OS map as enclosing an area of woodland behind Culgower House and may therefore date to 1849 when the new house was built. West of the deer fence on close-cropped heather are several clearance cairns identical to those identified at Crackaig. Again, no hut circle was found in the vicinity. It is assumed that the greater part of the high ground along this coastal strip might contain evidence for old cultivation, and that the settlements associated with this were at a lower level now crofting land.

Recommendations: From the point of view of the archaeological record, this would be an acceptable site for the location of the reservoir site, should the first site be rejected.

32. NC 9758 1178 Culgower Farm 'A multi-period steading complex dating to the 1820-50s,' including threshing machine, waterwheel site and millpond, saw mill, cattle courts, cartsheds, dovecot and farm house. This whole complex is now derelict and in disrepair. A map of 1849 marks the Culgower farm buildings as originally standing some distance to the south east, which would place them in the low ground of the big field to the SE of the present farm. This map indicates the proposed site of the new house and farm buildings. There is no trace on the ground or on air photographs of the original farm buildings.

Recommendations: the proposed route of the pipeline passes to the south of the farm, and will probably only affect it where it crosses a curving dyke which runs down to the burn from the SW corner, and where it cuts across the SE corner of the complex. At this point there is one small stone building and the enclosing drystone dyke. It is hoped that damage to these features will be kept to a minimum and that the standing dykes will be reinstated.

33. NC 9865 1225 Culgower Smithy This is marked on the 2nd edition OS map but there is now no trace on the ground. It is presumed to have been completely destroyed by the upgrading of the A9

34. ND 0072 1349  Portgower Inn: Well  What appears to be a natural spring enhanced by the construction of a brick superstructure. The use of bricks as a building material suggests this construction is not very old. It is not marked as a well on the 2nd edition OS map. The pipeline route should pass south of this feature without causing damage to it.

35. ND 0080 1351  Portgower Inn: Steading  a U-shaped steading attached to the Inn with various outbuildings, probably dating to 1813 when the present building rep;laced the previous inn on this site. The present route of the pipeline appears to cut across the corner of this complex, causing damage to a couple of walls and what looks like the outflow of a culvert or field drain. The potential damage to the steading complex is not considered sufficient to require  redirection of the pipeline route. 

36. ND 0148 1387  Dun Phail SMR no. ND01SW0002 A dun or broch at the top of the scarp above the road. This now survives only as field clearance-type piles of stone and stone boundary dykes, both presumably made of the stones which formerly made the broch. The rest of the fields along the scarp are notably free of stones. This is far enough from the road for any archaeological evidence to be unaffected by the present project.

37.  0158 1393 Shore of Gartymore Two Buildings. What looks like a house and byre behind, both roofed, are marked on the 2nd edition OS map. The buildings and fields below the scarp were not part of the original layout of the Gartymore crofts in 1820. There is now no trace of these buildings and it is presumed that they were completely destroyed during the upgrading of the A9.

38. ND 0218 1479 Shore of Gartymore One large and two small buildings, a garden patch and three fields are marked on the 2nd edition OS map. There is now no trace of these buildings and it is presumed that all trace of them was destroyed during the upgrading of the A9.
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